
CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL 
FEBRUARY 12, 2018 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
A meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be held on 
Monday, February 12, 2018 at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, 
Cedarburg, WI, in the second floor Council Chambers.  
             

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Kip Kinzel 
 

2. MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
4.        ROLL CALL:  Present – 

 
 
 

Common Council – Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members   
John Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick 
Verhaalen, Patricia Thome, Mike O’Keefe 

5. STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES* - January 29, 2018 
 
7. COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS** Comments from citizens on a 

listed agenda item will be taken when the item is addressed by the Council.  At this time 
individuals can speak on any topic not on the agenda for up to 5 minutes, time 
extensions at the discretion of the Mayor.  No action can be taken on items not listed 
except as a possible referral to committees, individuals or a future Council agenda item. 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION 
 

It is anticipated the Common Council will adjourn to closed session pursuant to State 
Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the 
investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business whenever 
competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to 
consider a Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Development Agreement with HSI 
Properties regarding the St. Francis Borgia site at N44 W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton 
Road.  Approval of January 29, 2018 closed session minutes.            
 

9. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
  
10. NEW BUSINESS 
 
* A. Consider Planned Unit Development Agreement (Plan Comm. 02/05/18) and Tax 

Incremental Financing (TIF) Development Agreement with HSI Properties 
regarding the St. Francis Borgia site at N44 W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton 
Road; and action thereon 

 
* B. Consideration of Resolution No. 2018-04 Approving the Project Plan and 

Establishing the Boundaries for and the Creation of Tax Incremental District  
  No. 5, City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin; and action thereon 

1 of 78



  
* C. Consider Planned Unit Development (PUD) overlay extension for the St. Francis 

Borgia site at N44 W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton Road; and action thereon  
 
* D. Consider Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the St. Francis Borgia site at N44 

W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton Road; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 02/05/18) 
 
* E. Consider Ordinance No. 2018-02 increasing the allocated funds in the 

Recreation Program Special Revenue Fund to the Pool Fund; and action thereon 
 
* F. Consider payment of bills for the period 01/23/18 through 02/05/18, transfers for 

the period 01/23/18 through 02/06/18, and payroll for the period 01/14/18 through 
01/27/18; and action thereon 

 
*** G. Consider License Applications; and action thereon 
    
 1. Consider approval of new Operators License application for the period 

ending June 30, 2018 for Benjamin J. Dereszynski; and action thereon 
 
 2. Authorize issuance of a Festival Celebration Permit to Festivals of 

Cedarburg, Inc., for Strawberry Festival to be held on Saturday, June 23, 
2018 from 10:00 a.m. to 8:30 p.m. and on Sunday, June 24, 2018 from 
10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.       

 
 3. Authorize issuance of a Festival Celebration Permit to Festivals of 

Cedarburg, Inc., for Wine and Harvest Festival to be held on Saturday, 
September 15, 2018 from 10:00 a.m. to 8:30 p.m. and on Sunday, 
September 16, 2018 from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.      

 
 4. Authorize issuance of a Festival Celebration Permit to Festivals of 

Cedarburg, Inc., for Oktoberfest to be held on Saturday, October 13, 2018 
from 11:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. and Sunday, October 14, 2018 from 10:00 
a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  

 
11.       REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 
* A. Administrator’s Report 
* B. Building Inspector’s Report – January 2018 
   
12. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
** A. Comments and suggestions from citizens 
 B. Comments and announcements by Council Members  

C. Mayor’s Report  
 1. Proclamation – Cedarburg Lions Club 

 
13. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

2 of 78



 
 
Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above meeting.  It 
is possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board,  committee or commission 
pursuant to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  
This notice does not authorize attendance at either the above meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is 
given solely to comply with the notice requirements of the open meeting law. 
 
* Information attached for Council; available through City Clerk’s Office.   
** Citizen comments should be primarily one-way, from citizen to the Council.  Each citizen who wishes to 

speak   shall be accorded one opportunity at the beginning of the meeting and one opportunity at the end 
of the meeting.  Comments should be kept brief.  If the comment expressed concerns a matter of public 
policy, response from the Council will be limited to seeking information or acknowledging that the citizen 
has been understood.  It is out of order for anyone to debate with a citizen addressing the Council or for 
the Council to take action on a matter of public policy.  The Council may direct that the concern be placed 
on a future agenda.  Citizens will be asked to state their name and address for the record and to speak 
from the lectern for the purposes of recording their comments. 

*** Information available through the Clerk’s Office. 

 
UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 

ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

E-MAIL:  cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us 
 
02/08/18 ckm  

3 of 78

mailto:cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us


 CITY OF CEDARBURG     CC20180129-1 

                                                             COMMON COUNCIL UNAPPROVED 

JANUARY 29, 2018 

        

A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held on 

Monday, January 29, 2018, at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, second floor, Council 

Chambers.   Mayor Kinzel called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

ROLL CALL: Present  -  Common Council:   Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members John 

Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick Verhaalen,  Patricia 

Thome, Mike O’Keefe  

  

 Vacant - Aldermanic District 5 

  

                       Also Present - City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, Director of Public 

Works and Engineering Tom Wiza, Police Chief Tom Frank, City 

Clerk Constance McHugh, City Attorney Michael Herbrand, 1
st
 

District Aldermanic Candidate Sara Dunstone, 3
rd

 Aldermanic District 

Candidate Kristin Burkart; interested citizens and news media 

 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 

 

At Mayor Kinzel’s request, City Clerk McHugh verified that notice of this meeting was provided to 

the public by forwarding the agenda to the City’s official newspaper, the News Graphic, to all news 

media and citizens who requested copies, and by posting in accordance with the Wisconsin Open 

Meetings law.  Citizens present were welcomed and encouraged to provide their input during the 

citizen comment portion of the meeting. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Dieffenbach, to approve 

the minutes of the January 8, 2018 meeting.  Motion carried unanimously with Aldermanic District 

5 vacant. 

 

CONSIDER ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION NO. 2018-03 AUTHORIZING AN 

APPLICATION FOR A STATE TRUST FUND LOAN 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said the anticipated 2018 borrowing includes funds for the 

construction of the monopole, street projects, and TID No. 4.  Borrowing for the monopole needs to 

be done separately because it is taxable.  The Board of Commissioners of Public Lands requires a 

resolution adopted by the Council as part of the application process for a State Trust Fund loan.  

The loan is $300,000.  

 

Motion made by Council Member Czarnecki, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to adopt 

Resolution No. 2018-03 authorizing an application for a State Trust Fund Loan.  Motion carried 

unanimously with Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

4 of 78



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180129-2 

January 29, 2018 UNAPPROVED 

 

CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2018-01 AMENDING SEC. 10-1-17(d) OF THE 

MUNICIPAL CODE PROHIBITING U-TURNS ON LINCOLN BOULEVARD AT 

MADISON AVENUE 

 

Director Wiza said the Police Department has requested prohibiting U-turns for east and west bound 

Lincoln Boulevard at Madison Avenue.  Officers have witnessed numerous vehicles making U-

turns on Lincoln Blvd. when dropping children off at Westlawn School.  Given the amount of 

vehicular and pedestrian traffic in this area, and the narrow median width at the intersection, a U-

turn at this location is awkward, unexpected, and potentially dangerous.  The Public Works and 

Sewerage Commission recommended U-turns be prohibited on Lincoln Boulevard at the Madison 

Avenue intersection.  The principal of Westlawn School was notified this item was on the agenda of 

this meeting. 

 

Council Member Arnett said he spoke to the principal at Westlawn, who is in agreement with the 

proposed ordinance. 

 

Chief Frank said the Police Department did a study of this intersection in November of 2017 to 

determine the need for a crossing guard.  At that time an officer noticed parents making numerous 

U-turns.  The officer felt it would help with safety to prohibit U-turns at this location. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Czarnecki, seconded by Council Member Thome, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2018-01 amending Sec. 10-1-17(d) of the Municipal Code prohibiting U-turns on 

Lincoln Boulevard at Madison Avenue.   

Sharon Trompeter, N29 W6429 Lincoln Blvd., said she understands that children need to be safe, 

but suggested there be time restrictions on when U-turns can and cannot be made.  She suggested 

U-turns not be allowed between 8:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 

 

Chief Frank said that in the past when temporary signs have been erected officers see 

noncompliance because people get confused. 

 

Kristin Burkart, W67 N547 Evergreen Blvd., said she understands the safety aspect, but U-turns 

allow drivers to use both sides of the street. 

 

Director Wiza said other options include making U-turns at Hillcrest Avenue and Lincoln 

Boulevard or cutting through at the next median. 

 

With Council Members Czarnecki, Arnett, Verhaalen, Thome, and O’Keefe voting aye, Council 

Member Dieffenbach voting nay, and Aldermanic District 5 vacant, the motion adopting Ordinance 

No. 2018-01 carried. 

 

PAYMENT OF BILLS 

 

Motion made by Council Member Czarnecki, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to approve the 

payment of the bills for the period 01/05/18 through 01/19/18, transfers for the period 01/06/18 

through 01/22/18, and payroll for the period 12/31/17 through 01/13/18.  Motion carried 

unanimously with Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

5 of 78



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180129-3 

January 29, 2018 UNAPPROVED 

 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS 

 

Motion made by Council Member Czarnecki, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to authorize 

the issuance of  new Operators licenses for the period ending June 30, 2018 to Matthew W. Gifford, 

Thomas W. Krueger, Dale G. Mueller, Erica L. Raffaele, and Alexandra F. Smith.  Motion carried 

unanimously with Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

Motion made by Council Member O’Keefe, seconded by Council Member Thome, to authorize 

issuance of a Festival Celebration Permit to Festivals of Cedarburg, Inc., for Winter Festival to be 

held on Saturday, February 17, 2018 from 8:30 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. and on Sunday, February 18, 

2018 from 8:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously with Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said that subject to confirmation by the Police and Fire 

Commission, Officer Brian Emmrich will be promoted to Sergeant. 

 

COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

Council Member Dieffenbach asked for an update on the clearance from the DNR for the property 

on St. John Avenue.  City Administrator/Treasure Mertes said this property is owned by Mercury 

Marine. 

 

Council Member O’Keefe reminded everyone of Winter Festival to be held on February 17 and 18. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to adjourn to 

closed session at 7:16 p.m. pursuant to State Statutes 19.85(1)(c) to consider employment, 

promotion, compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the 

governing body has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility, more specifically, to consider 

compensation for Dispatcher Keith Liebherr.  Motion carried on a roll call vote with Council 

Members Czarnecki, Arnett, Dieffenbach, Verhaalen, Thome and O’Keefe voting aye and 

Aldermanic District 5 vacant.  Approval of January 8, 2018 closed session minutes. 

 

RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Thome, to reconvene 

to open session at 7:21 p.m.  Motion carried on a roll call vote with Council Members Czarnecki, 

Arnett, Dieffenbach, Verhaalen, Thome and O’Keefe voting aye and Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

CONSIDER BONUS FOR DISPATCHER LIEBHERR 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to award a one-

time bonus of $500 to Dispatcher Keith Liebherr.  Motion carried unanimously with Aldermanic 

District 5 vacant. 

 

6 of 78



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180129-4 

January 29, 2018 UNAPPROVED 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

       

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member O’Keefe, to adjourn the 

meeting at 7:22 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously with Aldermanic District 5 vacant. 

 

       Constance K. McHugh, MMC/WCPC 

       City Clerk 

 

 

7 of 78



 

 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING DATE:  February 12, 2018                                               ITEM NO: 10. A. 
 
TITLE:   Consider Planned Unit Development Agreement (Plan Comm. 02/05/18) and Tax 
Incremental Financing (TIF) Development Agreement with HSI Properties regarding the St. Francis 
Borgia site at N44 W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton Road; and action thereon 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY:  According to Sec.13-1-69(n) of the Zoning Code “The City’s review and 

approval process shall be conditioned on the execution by the Common Council and the 

applicant of the development agreement approved by the Common Council with its approval 

embodying all the terms and conditions of the specific plan and any additional terms of 

implementation. The development agreement shall be submitted to the Plan Commission for 

its recommendation prior to approval by the Common Council”. Basically, the Planned Unit 
Development Agreement is the contract between the City and the developer that establishes the 
developer’s responsibilities regarding the provisions of public and private facilities, improvements, 
impact fees and any other agreed-upon terms.  
 
The remaining terms are included in the TIF Development agreement to be discussed in closed 
session and possibly acted upon in open session. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve as presented. 
 
BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their February 5, 2018 meeting, 
the Plan Commission reviewed this agreement and recommended approval by unanimous vote. 
 
BUDGETARY IMPACT:  N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Unapproved minutes from the February 5, 2018 Plan Commission meeting. 
 Copy of the recommended Development Agreement. 

 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Tony DeRosa, HSI Properties. 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 
 

8 of 78



9 of 78



10 of 78



PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN

THE CITY OF CEDARBURG AND HSI ARRABELLE, LLC

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as of this

____

day of

____________

2018, by and between the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, a Wisconsin Municipal
Corporation (hereinafter the “City”) and HSI Arrabelle, LLC, a Wisconsin Limited Liability
Company (hereinafter the “Developer”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property in the City of Cedarburg,
Wisconsin, comprising Certified Survey Map Number

____

(“CSM”), recorded with the
Ozaukee County Register of Deeds office on the

____

day of ,2018, as document
number

__________,

and more commonly identified as N W6035 — N43 W6005 Hamilton
Road and the Parking Lot Property across the street and on the north side of Hamilton Road,
along with a 17,100 square foot portion of the Vacant Parcel located between the Parking Lot
property and Spring Street, said CSM being attached hereto, marked Exhibit A, and incorporated
herein by reference (hereinafter the “Property”); and

WHEREAS, Developer intends to demolish and remove all of the existing improve
ments currently located on the Property and develop 69 apartment units, to be known as
Anabelle, and one single family residence (the apartments and single family residence shall be
collectively referred to herein as the “Development”); and

WHEREAS, The Property is conditionally zoned as a Planned Unit Development Overlay
District and City Ordinance § 13-1 -69(n)(2) requires that the Plan Commission recommend and the
City Council approve a Developer’s Agreement which shall include, without limitation:

(a) Timetables for performance/completion of improvements;

(b) Performance requirements and standards and assurances for all improvements
and/or modifications pertaining to the PUD;

(c) Inspection requirements;

(d) Prohibition on any division/combination of real estate lots included within the
HID District except as othenvise provided;

(e) Provisions for lapsing of specific plan approval and automatic reversion of the
zoning status of the Property to non-PUD District status upon specific changes of
circumstances or failure of the project to materialize as agreed to in the
Development Agreement;

1

11 of 78



(0 Agreements, bylaws, provisions and/or covenants or additional deed restrictions
to be recorded against the lot(s) within the PUD District that vilI perpetually
govern the organizational structure, use, maintenance and continued preservation
and protection of the project and any of its common services, common open areas
and/or other facilities;

(g) Exhibits, drawings or other attachments that depict improvements, including but
not limited to structures, fixtures and landscaping and their relative locations in
the development area as well as design and engineering details as necessary to
document to a reasonable degree of specificity the type, character and nature of
improvements to be made within the development area.

WHEREAS, the Developer, in connection with the Development and the Property, has
participated in the municipal approval process required by the City for this Development, and
has obtained approval of a Planned Unit Development allowing for the construction and use of
the Development; and

WHEREAS, the City and Developer enter into this Development Agreement for the
purpose of setting forth certain rights, duties, and obligations of the parties with respect to the
Property and Development.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and mutual agreements herein set
forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION I PROJECT OVERVIEW

Developer has committed to the construction of apartment buildings on the Property
containing 69 residential apartments, with approximately 104 underground residential parking
spaces for use by the residential apartment tenants, and approximately 57 above-ground parking
spaces for residential use by the apartment tenants and use by the adjoining St. Francis Borgia
Church, in the City of Cedarburg (the “Project”). The Property shall also have a vacant parcel
for construction of a single family home.

SECTION II DEVELOPER WARRANTIES

A. Developer covenants and warrants to the City that the Project contemplated by
this Agreement will contain multifamily residential apartments for lease to the public, private
parking, shared parking for use by the adjoining St. Francis Borgia Church, one single family
home, and other reasonable uses related thereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set
forth in this Agreement, the City agrees that this Agreement does not prohibit or restrict
Developer from changing uses or reducing or providing additional amenities to the Project,
subject to any applicable zoning restriction, and with respect to physical improvements, any
municipal approval process.

2

12 of 78



B. Timetable for Performance/Completion. Developer shall commence construction
on the Project no later than July 31, 2018, and shall be substantially completed no later than
December 31, 2019. “Commence construction”, as that term is used in this Agreement, shall
mean the point in the construction process at or after which (1) the City has issued a building
permit for all multi-family apartment units within the Project and (2) the Developer has paid the
impact fees for the entire Project. “Substantially complete”, as used in this Agreement, means
all of the multifamily apartments proposed in the Project are completed and eligible for the
issuance of an occupancy permit by the City. Pursuant to Section 13-1-69(o)(2)(4) of the City
Code of Municipal Ordinances, if a building permit is not issued within one (1) year of receiving
the PUD zoning, the PUD district zoning for the Property shall be automatically discontinued
and replaced with the zoning designation that existed prior to the PUD rezoning;

SECTION III PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS

A. Developer shall design and construct the following public improvements
(“Improvements”) or take such other actions as described below, all pursuant to and compliant
with the Plans and Specifications approved by the City, marked Exhibit —‘ and attached hereto
by reference (“Performance Requirements and Standards”). Developer or its general contractor
(“Contractor”) shall be required to repair, at their own expense, only any faulty material used or
workmanship performed during the initial construction of the Improvements and any damage
therefrom related to the Improvements that may develop within a period of one year after the
date Developer dedicates the Improvements to the public. Developer or Contractor shall make
such repairs to the reasonable satisfaction of the Director of Engineering and Public Works.

1. Storm Sewer and Storni Water Facilities. Developer shall be responsible
for abandoning the current storm sewer located on the Property and installation of the new storm
sewer and storm water quality facilities sen’ingtheDevelopment. Upon completion of the
installation of these public improvements, Developer shall be required to enter into recordable
perpetual maintenance easement agreements for the storm sewer and storm water facilities
described herein;

2. Sidewalks. Developer shall be responsible for repairing or replacing all
City sidewalks damaged or removed as a result of construction of the Project;

3. City Trees. Developer shall be responsible for replacement or planting of
all required trees in the Parkway area of the Project, as required by City of Cedarburg Code of
Municipal Ordinances, and subject to the final approval of the City Forester;

4. Hydrant Relocation. Developer shall be responsible for the cost of any
hydrants that need to be installed, or relocated on the Property, as a result of the Project, and as
required by City of Cedarburg Code of Municipal Ordinances, and subject to the final approval
of the City Fire Chief or his designee;

3

13 of 78



5. Abandonment of Existing Infrastructure. Developer shall be responsible
for abandonment of existing sanitary sewer and water laterals that are not utilized for the
Development. These services shall be abandoned at the main. All said abandonment must be
supervised and approved by the Director of Engineering and Public Works;

6. Dedication of road right-of-way/Vision Triangle Easement. Prior to the
Substantial Completion Date, as defined in Section 11(C) herein, the owner of the property on
which the St. Francis Borgia church is located shall dedicate to the City and declare an easement
for the benefit of the City over an area comprising an approximately forty foot (40’) by forty foot
(40’) triangular parcel of property at the intersection of Washington Avenue and Hamilton Road,
for road right-of-way purposes and a vision triangle, in a form and manner deemed acceptable to
the Director of Engineering and Public Works and City Attorney. The City shall not be
responsible for any cost of surveying said parcel to be dedicated herein;

B. A Performance Bond or other surety for the Improvements Developer is obligated
to perform, in a format approved by the City Attorney, is required. An Engineer’s Opinion of
Probable Cost for the Improvements Developer is obligated to perform must be provided by
Developer or approved representative to the City’s Engineering Department. The Engineering
Department will confirm the surety amount and add 15% to the estimate for as-built review to
establish a total surety amount. The City must be in receipt of the surety prior to the start of
work within the right of way. If desired, the surely can be partially released as evidence of work
completed is provided and as approved by the City Engineer at a maximum frequency of
quarterly. As-built drawings shall be submitted for private utility lalerals installed in the public
right of way. Surety will not be released in fill until final acceptance and receipt of two hard
copies and one electronic copy of the AutoCAD files of the as-built plans as approved by the
City Engineer;

C. In connection with the Project, the City shall design and construct the following
improvements: None

SECTION IV PRIVATE PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS

A. Relocation of Monument Sign Serving St. Francis Borgia Church. Developer
shall, by no later than the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in Section 11(C) herein,
relocate the existing Monument Sign serving St. Francis Borgia Church to a location outside of
the vision triangle for the intersection of Hamilton Street and Washington Avenue. Such
relocation shall be subject to final approval by the City Director of Engineering and Public
Works.

B. Execution of Cross-Parking Easement with St. Francis Borgia Church. On or
prior to the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in Section 11(C) herein, Developer shall
provide the City with a filly-executed cross-parking easement, in a form deemed acceptable to
the City Attorney, between the Developer and St. Francis Borgia Church to allow the Church and
Project to remain compliant with City parking requirements, as set forth in the City Code of
Municipal Ordinances.

4

14 of 78



SECTION V IMPACT FEES AND DEVELOPER PAYMENTS

A. Impact and Connection Fees. Prior to issuance of any building permit and payable
at the time of building permit application, the Developer shall pay the impact, connection and
other fees identified on Exhibit , attached hereto and incorporated herein related to the
Development.

The fees Exhibit attached hereto are based on the City’s rates for 2018. All of the
impact and connection fees shown in the attached Exhibit are subject to an annual
adjustment pursuant to §3-6-9 of the Code of Ordinances.

B. Developer Payments. In addition to the fees identified above, Developer shall pay
the following fees:

(1) Other Improvement Costs. Developer is responsible to pay for all
reasonable engineering, administrative, and legal fees associated with the new
development, during the installation of public utilities, including the cost of
construction inspection, materials testing, preparation of as-built drawings, and
other fees associated therewith.

(2) Account Statements. Developer shall review and approve all engineering,
inspection, and attorney draw requests received by the City and pertaining to the
Improvements. The City shall provide copies of each such request with supporting
documentation to the Developer.

(3) Recording Fees. Developer shall pay to the Register of Deeds for Ozaukee
County all recording fees due for the recording of the Certified Survey Map, the
pond maintenance agreement, and any separate dedication instruments and grants
of easements as are directly attributable to the development.

SECTION VI CITY RESPONSIBILITIES

A. The City of Cedarburg will timely review and approve plans for the construction
of the Improvements and the Project and conduct inspections of the Project, as required by the
City of Cedarburg Code of Municipal Ordinances.

B. With the exception of storm water and sanitary sewer laterals, the City of
Cedarburg will own the Improvements constructed in the public right of way and easements and
shall be responsible for all future improvements (capital or otherwise), maintenance, repair, and
replacement associated with the Improvements, subject to all assessment rights granted under
Wisconsin law. Storm and sanitary service laterals shall be private and maintained by the
Developer, and subsequent owners of the Property.

S

15 of 78



SECTION VII REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTEES

A. Developer hereby represents and warrants to the City that:

1. Developer is a limited liability company duly formed and validly existing
and is qualified to do business in and in good standing in the State of Wisconsin and all other
jurisdictions in which failure to do so would have a material adverse effect on its business or
financial condition;

2. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized and approved
by all necessary limited liability company action of Developer and constitute the valid and
binding obligations of Developer enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, subject
only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, general principles of
equity and other similar laws of general application affecting the enforceability of creditors’
rights generally; and

3. The execution, delivery and performance of Developer’s obligations
pursuant to this Agreement will not violate or conflict with Developer’s articles of organization
or operating agreement or any indenture, instrument or agreement by which Developer is bound,
nor, to Developer’s knowledge, does it violate or conflict with any law applicable to Developer
or the Project.

B. The City hereby warrants and represent to the Developer that:

1. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized and approved
by the City, and no other or further acts or proceedings of the city or its officials are necessary to
authorize and approve the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement, and the
matters contemplated hereby, except the actions of the City Attorney and Staff, as described
herein;

2. This Agreement. the exhibits, documents, and instruments associated
herewith and made a part hereof, have, if applicable, been duly executed and delivered by the
City and constitute the legal, valid, and binding agreement and obligation of the City,
enforceable against the City in accordance with their respective terms.

SECTION VIII MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTY

The Project shall be maintained in accordance with the City’s Code of Municipal
Ordinances. Trash and refuse shall be deposited in sealed containers dedicated to trash
collection and shall be collected at a commercially reasonable frequency. Developer shall
eliminate, or cause to be eliminated, significant, prominent damage to the Project and any health
hazards or nuisances within thirty (30) days (or such other period of time as reasonably

6

16 of 78



necessary or determined to be appropriate by the City’s Building Inspector or health Officer)
from delivery of written notice by the City to the Developer explaining such hazard or nuisances.
In the event that the City determines that the Project is not in compliance with the terms of this
Section, following written notice from the City to the Developer and an adequate opportunity to
cure as described in the notice, the City may take correction action and assess the costs of such
action as a special charge against the Project. This remedy shall not be exclusive and nothing
herein shall be deemed in any way to limit enforcement action otherwise available to the City
under the Cedarburg Municipal Code or other applicable law.

SECTION IX NOTICES

All communications or notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been given (i) upon delivery to the person or entity entitled
to such notice, if hand delivered or (ii) two business days following deposit in the United States
mail, postage prepaid, or with a nationally recognized overnight commercial carrier that will
certify as to the date and time of delivery, air bill prepaid, (iii) upon transmission if by facsimiles
with confirmation of accepted transmission), or (iv) by electronic mail or such other means of
electronic communication as is agreed and acceptable to both parties, and each such
communication or notice shall be addressed to the following individuals or their successors,
unless and until any of such parties notifies the other in accordance with this paragraph of a
change in contact name or address:

CITY: DEVELOPER:

C/o City Administrator

________________________

P.O. 49

_____________________

W63 N645 Washington Avenue

________________________

Cedarburg, Wisconsin 53012-0049

________________________

SECTION X WAIVER

No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of
any other provision, nor shall it be deemed or constitute a continuing waiver unless expressly
provided for by written amendments to this agreement.

SECTION XI INDEMNIFICATION

A. Indemnification Agreement. In addition to, and not to the exclusion or prejudice
of, any other provision of this Agreement, the Developer shall indemnify and hold harmless the
City, its officers, agents and employees, and shall defend the same, from and against any and all
liability, claims, loss, damages, interest, action, suits, judgments, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees
and the like, to whomsoever owed and by whomsoever and whenever brought or obtained, that
may in any manner result from this Agreement or the work performed or the responsibilities of
the Developer under this Agreement, expressly including, though not limited to, negligence and

7

17 of 78



the breach of any duty whether imposed by statutes, ordinances, regulations, order, decree or law
of any other sort or by contract, on the part of the Developer or its officers, employees, agents or
independent contractors, in carrying out the work and in supervising and safeguarding the same
in any respect whatever, and including claims arising under any federal, state or local law,
including Worker’s Compensation laws and including negligence and the breach of any duty
whether imposed by statutes, ordinances, regulations, order, decree or law of any other sort or by
contract, on the part of the Developer or its officers, employees, agents or independent
contractors, in carrying out the work and in supervising and safeguarding the same in any
respect.

B. If a claim is made against the City related to work performed by the Developer or
the responsibilities of the Developer under this Agreement, the City agrees that it shall, within
ten (10) business days of its notice thereof, notify the Developer and any liability insurance
carrier, which has been designated by the Developer. The Developer shall thereafter provide full
cooperation in defense of the claim. The Developer shall, at the option of the City, defend any
claim on behalf of the City in which case the Developer or its insurer is authorized to act on
behalf of the City in responding to any claim to the extent of this indemnity. Such authorization
includes the right to investigate, negotiate, settle and litigate any such claim and control of the
defense thereof subject to the approval of the City.

C. Extent of Damages. In every case, but not as a limitation on the liability of the
Developer to the City, where judgment is recovered against the City on any such claim as
provided in this Section, if notice has been given to Developer as set forth above, any judgment
thereon shall be conclusive upon the Developer as to the amount of damages and as to its
liability therein; provided, however, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
the City shall reserve and maintain all of its rights and remedies to pursue recovery of all legal
and equitable remedies.

SECTION XII MISCELLANEOUS

A. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon
the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, including any successor owners of the real
property comprising the Development, or any portion thereof.

B. No waiver, amendment, or variation in the terms of this Agreement shall be valid
unless in writing and signed by the City and Developer, and then only to the extent specifically
set forth in writing.

C. All agreements, representations, warranties, covenants, liabilities and obligations
made in this Agreement and in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive
the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

D. This Agreement and the documents executed pursuant to this Agreement contain
the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. There are no
restrictions, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings other than those expressly set forth

8

18 of 78



in this Agreement and the documents executed in connection with this Agreement. This
Agreement and the documents executed in connection herewith supersede all prior negotiations,
agreements and undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

E. This Agreement is intended solely for the benefit of Developer and the City and
no third party (other than successors and assigns) shall have any rights or interest in any
provisions of this Agreement, or as a result of any action or inaction of the City. Without
limiting the foregoing, no approvals given pursuant to this Agreement by Developer or the City
or any person acting on behalf of any of them, shall be available for use by any contractor or
other person in any dispute relating to construction of the Development.

F. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in
accordance with, the laws of the State of Wisconsin applicable to contracts made and wholly
performed within such state.

0. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same
agreement. Facsimile or “PDF” signatures shall be deemed original signatures for all purposes
of this agreement.

H. Any provision of this Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable shall, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the
remaining provisions of this Agreement.

I. Time is of the essence of each and every obligation or agreement contained in this
Agreement.

J. If any party is delayed or prevented from timely performing any act required
under this Agreement, by reason of fire, earthquake. war, terrorist act, flood, riot, strikes, labor
disputes or shortages, governmental restrictions, judicial order, public emergency, acts of God,
or other causes beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform, then
performance of such act shall be excused for the period of such delay and the time for the
performance of any such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to such delay.

K. The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and are not intended to
modify any of the terms and conditions or this Agreement.

L. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to or has the effect of releasing
Developer from compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and ordinances in
addition to compliance with all terms, conditions and covenants contained in this Agreement.

M. This Agreement is the product of negotiation among all of the parties hereto and
no term, covenant or provision herein or the failure to include a term, covenant or provision shall

9

19 of 78



be construed against any party hereto solely on the basis that one party or the other drafted this
Agreement or any term, covenant or condition contained herein.

N. Upon full execution and Developer’s acquisition of the Property, a memorandum
of this Agreement shall be recorded against the Property with the Ozaukee County Register of
Deed’s Office by the City.

0. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to be a waiver or estoppel of the
City or its insurer to rely upon the limitations, defenses, and immunities contained within
Wisconsin law, including, but not limited to, those contained in Wisconsin Statutes 893.80,
895.52, and 345.05. To the extent that indemnification is available and enforceable, neither the
City nor its insurer shall be liable in indemnity or contribution for an amount greater than the
limits of liability for municipal claims established by Wisconsin law.

P. Dedication. Subject to the applicable provisions of the City Ordinances, as
amended, upon the final approvals of the Common Council, the lands therein dedicated for
public use by the Developer may be accepted by the City. Additionally, the Developer shall,
without charge to the City. upon completion of all of the public improvements for the
Development, unconditionally give, grant, convey, and frilly dedicate the same to the City, and
its successors and assigns forever, free and clear of all encumbrances whatsoever, including,
without limitation, any and all structures, mains, conduits, pipes, lines, equipment, and
appurtenances pertaining to such public improvements together with any and all necessary and
required easements for access and repairs thereto. After such Dedication, the City shall have the
right to connect or integrate other public improvements or public facilities to the public
improvements hereunder as the City decides, without payment or award to, or consent required
of, the Developer.

SECTION XIII TRANSFER OF PROPERTY AND ASSIGNMENT

Prior to the Project being Substantially Complete, as defined in this Agreement,
Developer shall not, without the City’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonable
withheld, conditioned, or delayed, sell, convey, or otherwise transfer the Property, except that
Developer may at any time, with or without the City’s consent: (i) enter into leases for all or
portions of the multi-family apartments located within the Project; (ii) sell or otherwise transfer
the single family parcel of real estate that is a part of the Development; and (iii) grant a security
interest or interests in the Property (for example, a mortgage interest).

SECTION XIV FEDERAL. STATE & LOCAL LAWS

Developer shall construct and operate the Project in compliance with all applicable
Federal, State and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances.

SECTION XV PROHIBITION ON DIVISION OF REAL ESTATE

10

20 of 78



The Developer is prohibited from any division or combination of the real estate lots
included within the Property except upon prior approval of the City.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement on the date set forth
above.

DEVELOPER:

STATE OF WISCONSIN

) ss.
COUNTY OF

Personally came before me this

____

day of , 2018, the above
named

____________________________,

to me known to be the person who executed the
foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same.

My commission

______________________

CITY OF CEDARBURG:

Kip Kinzel, Mayor

Constance McHugh, City Clerk
STATE OF WISCONSIN

) ss.
COUNTY OF OZAUKEE

Personally came before me this

____

day of

__________________,

2018, the above
named Kip Kinzel and Constance McHugh, to me known to be the persons who executed the
foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same.

Michael P. Herbrand
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin.
My commission is permanent.

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney

This document drafted by:

Michael P. Herbrand, Houseman & Feind, LLP

11

21 of 78



lAX‘U011c19

22 of 78



   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: January 25, 2018 

Public Hearing Held: January 25, 2018 

Approval by CDA: January 25, 2018 

Adoption by Common Council: Scheduled for February 12, 2018 

Approval by the Joint Review Board: Scheduled for February 27, 2018 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

February 12, 2018 

Project Plan for Creation of 
Tax Incremental District No. 5 
(St. Francis Borgia Site) 
 

23 of 78



   
 

Tax Incremental District No. 5 Creation 
Project Plan 
 
 

City of Cedarburg Officials 
 
Common Council 

Kip Kinzel Mayor 

Dick Dieffenbach Council Member 

Jack Arnett Council Member 

John Czarnecki Council Member 

Mike O’Keefe Council Member 

Mitch Regenfuss Council Member 

Patricia Thome Council Member 

Rick Verhaalen Council Member 

 
City Staff 

Christy Mertes City Administrator 

Constance McHugh City Clerk 

Jon Censky City Planner 

Mary Sheffield Economic Development Coordinator  

Michael Herbrand City Attorney 

 
Community Development Authority 

Mayor Kip Kinzel Andy Dettro 

Jack Arnett Eric Arvold 

Eric Stelter Joe Kassander 

Dale Lythjohan  

 
Joint Review Board 

Kip Kinzel City Representative 

Kathy Geracie Ozaukee County 

Wilma Bonaparte Milwaukee Area Technical College District 

Todd Bugnacki Cedarburg School District 

Allan Lorge Public Member 

24 of 78



     
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

TYPE AND GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT ........................................................................................ 6 

PRELIMINARY MAP OF PROPOSED DISTRICT BOUNDARY ........................................................................ 7 

MAP SHOWING EXISTING USES AND CONDITIONS ...................................................................................... 8 

PRELIMINARY PARCEL LIST AND ANALYSIS ................................................................................................... 9 

EQUALIZED VALUE TEST ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

STATEMENT OF KIND, NUMBER AND LOCATION OF PROPOSED PUBLIC WORKS AND OTHER 
PROJECTS ................................................................................................................................................................ 11 

MAP SHOWING PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS AND USES ......................................................................... 12 

DETAILED LIST OF PROJECT COSTS .............................................................................................................. 13 

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY, FINANCING METHODS, AND THE TIME WHEN COSTS OR 
MONETARY OBLIGATIONS RELATED ARE TO BE INCURRED .................................................................. 14 

ANNEXED PROPERTY........................................................................................................................................... 18 

ESTIMATE OF PROPERTY TO BE DEVOTED TO RETAIL BUSINESS ...................................................... 18 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE CHANGES ................................................................................................ 18 

PROPOSED CHANGES IN MASTER PLAN, MAP, BUILDING CODES AND CITY OF CEDARBURG 
ORDINANCES .......................................................................................................................................................... 18 

RELOCATION ........................................................................................................................................................... 18 

ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE CITY OF CEDARBURG ....................................................................... 19 

LIST OF ESTIMATED NON-PROJECT COSTS ................................................................................................. 19 

OPINION OF ATTORNEY FOR THE CITY OF CEDARBURG ADVISING WHETHER THE PLAN IS 
COMPLETE AND COMPLIES WITH WISCONSIN STATUTES 66.1105 ...................................................... 20 

CALCULATION OF THE SHARE OF PROJECTED TAX INCREMENTS ESTIMATED TO BE PAID BY 
THE OWNERS OF PROPERTY IN THE OVERLYING TAXING JURISDICTIONS ...................................... 21 

 
  

25 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 4 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 1:  
Executive Summary 

Description of District 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 5 (“District”) is a proposed 4.25 acres blighted area district to be 
created to facilitate redevelopment on five parcels owned by the St. Francis Borgia congregation 
consisting of a vacated elementary school building site and church rectory, a surface parking lot and a 
vacant parcel. These parcels are located near the south end of Cedarburg’s Historic Downtown District 
located on both sides of Hamilton Road directly southeast of the Washington Avenue and Hamilton Road 
intersection. The redevelopment project consists of razing the St. Francis Borgia elementary school and 
church rectory followed by the necessary site preparation for the construction of two buildings supporting 
60 high end apartment units, a building with 9 townhome style units and a single-family home site 
(“Project”) by HSI Properties (“Developer”). 
 

Estimated Total Project Cost Expenditures   

The City anticipates making total expenditures (“Project Costs”) of approximately $1.98 million to 
undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). The Project Costs include $1.925 million in 
project incentive and assistance payments, and $56,500 for administrative expense over the life of the 
District. Other than administrative expenses incurred prior to the receipt of tax increments beginning in 
2020, the City expects to pay all Project Costs on a “pay as you go” basis. 
 

Incremental Valuation  

The City projects that incremental land and improvements value of approximately $8.4 million will be 
created not later than January 1, 2020 as a result of construction of the multi-family units and a single-
family home. This additional value will be created a result of the improvements made and Project Costs 
incurred within the District. 
 

Expected Termination of District   
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study included in this Plan, the City would expect to recover all 
Project Costs by the year 2032, or fifteen years prior to the end of the District’s maximum allowable term 
of twenty-seven years. 
 

Summary of Findings 
As required by Wis. Stats. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the exhibits contained and 
referenced herein, the following findings are made: 
 
1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to occur as detailed in 

this Project Plan:  1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in the manner, at the values, or 
within the timeframe desired by the City.  In making this determination, the City has considered 
the Developer’s representation that the project is not economically viable without public participation 
based on extraordinary costs associated with demolition of structures and redevelopment of existing 
sites. 

26 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 5 February 12, 2018 
 

2. The economic benefits of the Tax Incremental District, as measured by increased employment, 
business and personal income, and property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of 
the improvements.  In making this determination, the City has considered the Project’s economic 
benefits which include an estimated $8.4 million increase in property valuation, creation of seventy 
housing units, construction jobs, property maintenance jobs, and the economic impact of an increase 
in the number of consumers living in the City’s downtown business district. 
 

3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the owners 
of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a 
calculation of the share of projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in Appendix A of this plan. 
However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax incremental financing, these tax 
increments would not be paid but for creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the 
benefits expected to be realized as set forth above outweigh the value of the tax increments to be 
invested in the Project. 

 
4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is a blighted area within the 

meaning of Wis. Stats. § 66.1105(2)(ae)1. 
 

5. Based upon the findings, as stated above, the District is declared to be a blighted area district based 
on the identification and classification of the property included within the District.  

 
6. The project costs relate directly to promoting the elimination of blight consistent with the purpose for 

which the District is created. 
 
7. The improvement of such area is likely to enhance significantly the value of substantially all of the 

other real property in the District. 
 
8. The equalized value of taxable property of the District, plus the value increment of all existing tax 

incremental districts within the City, does not exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable 
property within the City. 

 
9. The City estimates that none of the territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the 

end of the District’s maximum expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 66.1105(5)(b) and 
66.1105(6)(am)1. 

 
10. The Project Plan for the District in the City is feasible, and is in conformity with the master plan of 

the City. 

27 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 6 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 2:  
Type and General Description of District 

Located near the south end of Cedarburg’s Historic Downtown District located on both sides of Hamilton 
Road directly southeast of the Washington Avenue and Hamilton Road intersection, this 4.25-acre 
District is being created by the City under the authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105 and will be 
classified as a blighted area district based on a finding that at least 50%, by area, of the real property 
within the District is a blighted area as defined in Wis. Stats. § 66.1105(2)(ae)1. Creation of the District 
will facilitate redevelopment of five parcels owned by the St. Francis Borgia congregation consisting of a 
vacated elementary school building site and church rectory, a surface parking lot and a vacant parcel. The 
redevelopment project consists of razing the St. Francis Borgia elementary school and church rectory 
followed by the necessary site preparation for the construction of two buildings supporting 60 high end 
apartment units, a building with 9 townhome style units and a single-family home site by HSI Properties. 
The Project Costs included in this Plan relate directly to the elimination of blight and are consistent with 
the purpose for which the District is created. 
 

28 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 7 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 3:  
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary 

 

29 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 8 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 4:  
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions 

 
 

30 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 9 February 12, 2018 
 

 

SECTION 5:  
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis 

City of Cedarburg
Tax Increment District #5

Base Property Information
District 

Classification

Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage Land Imp Total

Equalized 

Value 

Ratio2 Land Imp Total Blighted3

13‐050‐22‐06‐000 ST FRANCIS BORGIA CONG 0.546 100 0 100 95.40% 105 0 105 0.546

13‐050‐22‐07‐000 N44 W6035 HAMILTON RD ST FRANCIS BORGIA CONG 2.062 874,500 100 874,600 95.40% 916,667 105 916,771 2.062

13‐112‐03‐01‐000 BORGIA, ST FRANCIS 0.244 100 0 100 95.40% 105 0 105 0.244

13‐050‐22‐09‐000 ST FRANCIS BORGIA CONG 0.736 100 0 100 95.40% 105 0 105

13‐050‐22‐09‐002 ST FRANCIS BORGIA CONG 0.664 100 0 100 95.40% 105 0 105

Total Acreage 4.25 874,900 100 875,000 917,086 105 2.8511

67.07%

917,191

Notes:
1Property Information and Assessment Information taken from Ozaukee County GIS website on December 11, 2017.
2Equalization ratio for 2017 per Wisconsin DOR Preliminary Major Class Comparison report.
3Parcels consist of areas in which structures, by reason of deterioration, age and obsolescence are detrimental to public safety, health and welfare. (Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(ae)1.a.).

Property Information1 Assessment Information1 Equalized Value

 
 
 
 

31 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 10 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 6:  
Equalized Value Test 

The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in compliance with Wis. Stats. § 
66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the equalized value of the taxable property in the proposed 
District, plus the value increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not exceed 12% of the total 
equalized value of taxable property within the City. The equalized value of the increment of existing tax 
incremental districts within the City, plus the base value of the proposed District, totals $917,191. This 
value is less than the maximum of $157,097,676 in equalized value that is permitted for the City of 
Cedarburg. The City is therefore in compliance with the statutory equalized valuation test and may 
proceed with creation of this District. 
 

District Creation Date 2/12/2018

Valuation Data Percent Valuation Data

Currently Available Change Est. Creation Date

2017

Total EV (TID In) 1,309,147,300 1,309,147,300

12% Test 157,097,676 157,097,676

Increment of Existing TIDs

14,900 14,900

0

0

0

0

0

Total Existing Increment 14,900 14,900

Projected Base of New or Amended District 917,191 5.00% 963,050

Total Value Subject to 12% Test 932,091 977,950

Compliance PASS PASS

City of Cedarburg

Tax Increment District #5

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation

TID #3

32 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 11 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 7:  
Statement of Kind, Number and Location of Proposed 
Public Works and Other Projects 

Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary obligations incurred or 
estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project Costs will be diminished by any income, special 
assessments or other revenues, including user fees or charges. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory 
outside the District, a proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this Plan are 
preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are subject to change after planning, design 
and construction is completed. 
 
With all projects, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, materials, construction, restoring 
property to its original condition, apparatus necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, 
testing, environmental studies, permits, updating City ordinances and plans, judgments or claims for 
damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. 
 
The following is a list of public works and other tax incremental financing eligible projects that the City 
expects to make, or may need to make, in conjunction with the implementation of the District’s Plan. The 
map found in Section 8 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs found in Section 9 
provide additional information as to the kind, number and location of potential Project Costs. 
 
Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  
The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or developers of land located within 
the District for the purpose of sharing costs to encourage the desired kind of improvements and assure tax 
base is generated sufficient to recover project costs.  No cash grants will be provided until the City 
executes a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant.  Any payments of cash grants made 
by the City are eligible Project Costs. 
 
Professional Service and Organizational Costs 
The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation to the creation, 
administration and termination of the District, and the undertaking of the projects contained within this 
Plan, are eligible Project Costs. Professional services include, but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal, audit; financial; and the costs of informing the public with 
respect to the creation of the District and the implementation of the Plan. 
 
Administrative Costs 
The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable allocations of administrative 
costs, including, but not limited to, employee salaries.  Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the 
time spent by City employees in connection with the implementation of the Plan. 

33 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 12 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 8:  
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses 

 

34 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 13 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 9:  
Detailed List of Project Costs 

The following list identifies the Project Costs that the City currently expects to incur in implementing the 
District’s Plan. All projects identified and related costs reflect the best estimates available as of the date of 
preparation of this Plan. All costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. Certain Project 
Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs not currently identified may need to be 
made. (Section 7 details the general categories of eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or 
the types of Project Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This Plan is not meant 
to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific Project Costs, but a framework within which to 
manage Project Costs. 
 
 

Proposed TIF Project Cost Estimates 
 

2018 ‐ 2032 Total

Project ID Project Name/Type

1 Development Incentives1 1,925,000 1,925,000

2 Administrative Expense 56,500 56,500

3 0

4 0

5 0

Total Projects 1,981,500 1,981,500

City of Cedarburg
Tax Increment District #5

Estimated Project List

35 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 14 February 12, 2018 
 

SECTION 10:  
Economic Feasibility Study, Financing Methods, and the 
Time When Costs or Monetary Obligations Related are to 
be Incurred 

This Section includes a forecast of the valuation increases expected within the District, the associated tax 
increment collections, a summary of how Project Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow 
demonstrating that the District is economically feasible. 
 

Key Assumptions 
For purposes of the Plan, it is assumed that the Project will be completed and that incremental valuation 
of not less than $8,740,000 will be created by January 1, 2020. The increase in valuation will occur 
because of: 1) sale of the land to Developer; 2) construction of 69 multi-family unit; and 3) construction 
of a single-family home. Assuming the $8,740,000 incremental valuation as a constant, and the City’s 
current equalized TID Interim tax rate of $19.37 per thousand of equalized value, the Project would 
generate $4,466,366 in incremental tax revenue over the 27-year term of the District. Table 1 and Table 2 
included hereafter include the assumptions as to timing and values of the development and projections of 
tax increment collections. 

36 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 15 February 12, 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Actual

St. Francis Borgia 

Site Redevelopment 

Project

Single Family 

Lot
Annual Total

1 2018 3,376,000 3,376,000 2018 1

2 2019 5,064,000 300,000 5,364,000 2019 2

3 2020 0 2020 3

4 2021 0 2021 4

5 2022 0 2022 5

6 2023 0 2023 6

7 2024 0 2024 7

8 2025 0 2025 8

9 2026 0 2026 9

10 2027 0 2027 10

11 2028 0 2028 11

12 2029 0 2029 12

13 2030 0 2030 13

14 2031 0 2031 14

15 2032 0 2032 15

16 2033 0 2033 16

17 2034 0 2034 17

18 2035 0 2035 18

19 2036 0 2036 19

20 2037 0 2037 20

21 2038 0 2038 21

22 2039 0 2039 22

23 2040 0 2040 23

24 2041 0 2041 24

25 2042 0 2042 25

26 2043 0 2043 26

27 2044 0 2044 27

Totals 0 8,440,000 300,000 8,740,000

Notes:
1Estimated valuations per C. Mertes e‐mail dated 11‐16‐2017.

Construction Year Construction Year

City of Cedarburg

Tax Increment District #5

Development Assumptions1

 
 

Table 1 – Development Assumptions 

37 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 16 February 12, 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Type of District Base Value 917,191

District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.00% Apply to Base Value

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2018 Base Tax Rate 19.37               

Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor

Expenditure Period/Termination 22 2/12/2040

Revenue Periods/Final Year 27 2046

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3 Tax Exempt Discount Rate 3.00%

Recipient District Taxable Discount Rate 4.50%

Construction 

Year Value Added Valuation Year

Inflation 

Increment

Total 

Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate1 Tax Increment

Tax Exempt 

NPV 

Calculation

Taxable NPV 

Calculation

1 2018 3,376,000 2019 0 3,376,000 2020 $19.37 65,383 59,835 57,295

2 2019 5,364,000 2020 0 8,740,000 2021 $19.37 169,269 216,535 208,203

3 2020 0 2021 0 8,740,000 2022 $19.37 169,269 366,928 350,145

4 2021 0 2022 0 8,740,000 2023 $19.37 169,269 512,940 485,975

5 2022 0 2023 0 8,740,000 2024 $19.37 169,269 654,700 615,955

6 2023 0 2024 0 8,740,000 2025 $19.37 169,269 792,331 740,339

7 2024 0 2025 0 8,740,000 2026 $19.37 169,269 925,953 859,366

8 2025 0 2026 0 8,740,000 2027 $19.37 169,269 1,055,683 973,268

9 2026 0 2027 0 8,740,000 2028 $19.37 169,269 1,181,635 1,082,264

10 2027 0 2028 0 8,740,000 2029 $19.37 169,269 1,303,918 1,186,567

11 2028 0 2029 0 8,740,000 2030 $19.37 169,269 1,422,640 1,286,379

12 2029 0 2030 0 8,740,000 2031 $19.37 169,269 1,537,904 1,381,892

13 2030 0 2031 0 8,740,000 2032 $19.37 169,269 1,649,810 1,473,293

14 2031 0 2032 0 8,740,000 2033 $19.37 169,269 1,758,457 1,560,757

15 2032 0 2033 0 8,740,000 2034 $19.37 169,269 1,863,940 1,644,455

16 2033 0 2034 0 8,740,000 2035 $19.37 169,269 1,966,350 1,724,549

17 2034 0 2035 0 8,740,000 2036 $19.37 169,269 2,065,777 1,801,194

18 2035 0 2036 0 8,740,000 2037 $19.37 169,269 2,162,309 1,874,539

19 2036 0 2037 0 8,740,000 2038 $19.37 169,269 2,256,029 1,944,725

20 2037 0 2038 0 8,740,000 2039 $19.37 169,269 2,347,019 2,011,888

21 2038 0 2039 0 8,740,000 2040 $19.37 169,269 2,435,359 2,076,160

22 2039 0 2040 0 8,740,000 2041 $19.37 169,269 2,521,126 2,137,663

23 2040 0 2041 0 8,740,000 2042 $19.37 169,269 2,604,395 2,196,519

24 2041 0 2042 0 8,740,000 2043 $19.37 169,269 2,685,239 2,252,840

25 2042 0 2043 0 8,740,000 2044 $19.37 169,269 2,763,727 2,306,735

26 2043 0 2044 0 8,740,000 2045 $19.37 169,269 2,839,930 2,358,310

27 2044 0 2045 0 8,740,000 2046 $19.37 169,269 2,913,914 2,407,664

Totals 8,740,000 0 Future Value of Increment 4,466,366

Notes:
1Rate shown is actual rate for 2017/18 per DOR Form PC‐202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

City of Cedarburg

Tax Increment District #5

Tax Increment Projection Worksheet

Blighted Area

February 12, 2018

27

Yes

 
 

Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet 

38 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 17 February 12, 2018 
 

Plan Implementation 
The City expects to incur approximately $1.98 million in Project Costs including $1.925 million in 
development incentive payments, and $56,500 for administrative expense over the life of the District. 
Development incentive payments will be paid on a “pay as you go” basis from the incremental taxes 
generated by the Project. The City does not expect to borrow any funds to implement the Plan. To the 
extent the City incurs administrative costs prior to the availability of tax increments to pay those costs, it 
will advance funds to the District and recover those advances prior to the payment of incentive amounts. 
Annual administrative expenses will be deducted prior to determination of the amount available for 
incentive payments to the Developer. Table 3 identifies projected tax increment revenues, incentive 
payments and administrative expense. Based on this analysis, the City would expect to recover all Project 
Costs and close the District in 2032. 
 

City of Cedarburg
Tax Increment District #5

Cash Flow Projection

Year

Year

2018 0 14,500 14,500 (14,500) (14,500) 0 2018

2019 0 3,000 3,000 (3,000) (17,500) 0 2019

2020 65,383 65,383 44,883 3,000 47,883 17,500 0 0 2020

2021 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2021

2022 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2022

2023 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2023

2024 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2024

2025 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2025

2026 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2026

2027 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2027

2028 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2028

2029 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2029

2030 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2030

2031 169,269 169,269 166,269 3,000 169,269 0 0 0 2031

2032 169,269 169,269 51,162 3,000 54,162 115,106 115,106 0 2032

2033 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 284,375 0 2033

2034 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 453,643 0 2034

2035 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 622,912 0 2035

2036 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 792,181 0 2036

2037 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 961,449 0 2037

2038 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,130,718 0 2038

2039 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,299,986 0 2039

2040 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,469,255 0 2040

2041 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,638,523 0 2041

2042 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,807,792 0 2042

2043 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 1,977,061 0 2043

2044 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 2,146,329 0 2044

2045 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 2,315,598 0 2045

2046 169,269 169,269 0 169,269 2,484,866 0 2046

Total 4,466,366 4,466,366 1,925,000 56,500 1,981,500 Total

Projected Revenues Expenditures Balances

Tax 

Increments

Total 

Revenues

Projected TID Closure

City Costs

Total 

Expenditures Annual Cumulative

Principal 

Outstanding

p

Incentive @ 

100% Less City 

Costs

 
Table 3 – Cash Flow Projection

39 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 18 February 12, 2018 

 

SECTION 11:  
Annexed Property 

There are no lands proposed for inclusion within the District that were annexed by the City on or after 
January 1, 2004. 
 
 

SECTION 12:  
Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business 

Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 66.1105(5)(b) and 66.1105(6)(am)1, the City estimates that none of the territory 
within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum expenditure 
period. 
 
 

SECTION 13: 
Proposed Zoning Ordinance Changes 

With the recent changes to the Zoning Map, the City does not anticipate that the Project will require any 
changes in the zoning ordinance. 
 
 

SECTION 14: 
Proposed Changes in Master Plan, Map, Building Codes 
and City of Cedarburg Ordinances 

With the recent changes to the Smart Growth Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025, it is expected that 
this Plan will complement the City’s Master Plan. Accordingly, there are no additional changes to the 
Master Plan, map, building codes or other City ordinances for the implementation of this plan. 
 
 

SECTION 15:  
Relocation 

There are no current business or residential uses of property within the District that would necessitate 
relocation. If relocation were to become necessary, relocations will be handled in compliance with Wis. 
Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code ADM 92. 

40 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 19 February 12, 2018 

 

SECTION 16:  
Orderly Development of the City of Cedarburg 

The District contributes to the orderly development of the City by providing the opportunity for continued 
growth in tax base, job opportunities and general economic activity. The City’s 2008 Smart Growth Plan 
identified the site as appropriate for high to medium density residential development. 
 
 

SECTION 17:  
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 

Non-Project costs are public works projects that only partly benefit the District or are not eligible to be 
paid with tax increments, or costs not eligible to be paid with TIF funds.   
 
Examples would include: 
A public improvement made within the District that also benefits property outside the District.  That 
portion of the total project costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project cost. 

 
A public improvement made outside the District that only partially benefits property within the District.  
That portion of the total project costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project 
cost. 

 
Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of this Project Plan, the costs of 
which are paid fully or in part by impact fees, grants, special assessments, or revenues other than tax 
increments. 
 
The City does not expect to incur any non-project costs in the implementation of this Project Plan.

41 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 20 February 12, 2018 

 

  
SECTION 18:  
Opinion of Attorney for the City of Cedarburg Advising 
Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with 
Wisconsin Statutes 66.1105 

 
 
 
 

42 of 78



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Project Plan TID No. 5 Creation City of Cedarburg 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page 21 February 12, 2018 

Exhibit A:  
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the 
Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 

DOR Form PC‐202 Year 2017/18

Ozaukee County 2,353,560 9.33%

City of Cedarburg 9,342,107 37.04%

Cedarburg School District 11,881,675 47.11%

MATC 1,646,116 6.53%

Total 25,223,458

Revenue Year

Ozaukee 

County

City of 

Cedarburg

Cedarburg 

School District MATC Total Revenue Year

2020 6,101 24,216 30,799 4,267 65,383 2020

2021 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2021

2022 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2022

2023 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2023

2024 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2024

2025 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2025

2026 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2026

2027 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2027

2028 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2028

2029 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2029

2030 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2030

2031 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2031

2032 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2032

2033 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2033

2034 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2034

2035 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2035

2036 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2036

2037 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2037

2038 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2038

2039 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2039

2040 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2040

2041 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2041

2042 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2042

2043 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2043

2044 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2044

2045 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2045

2046 15,794 62,693 79,735 11,047 169,269 2046

Total 416,749 1,654,225 2,103,911 291,481 4,466,366
1The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. 66.1105(4)(i)4.

Estimated Portion of Taxes that Owners of Taxable Property in each Taxing Jurisdiction 

Overlaying District would pay by Jurisdiction1

 

43 of 78



City of Cedarburg Wisconsin TID No. 4 Council Resolution 
 

 

CITY OF CEDARBURG COMMON COUNCIL 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-04 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PROJECT PLAN AND ESTABLISHING THE 
BOUNDARIES FOR AND THE CREATION OF  

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5, 
CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Cedarburg (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental 

Financing is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 5 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by the City 

as a blighted area district in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the 

"Tax Increment Law"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes: 

 

a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 

improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 

66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 

c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 

d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the 

related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 

e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 

f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 

g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 

ordinances;  

h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 

i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 

j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 

k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the plan 

is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f). 

 

 WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to owners of 

all property in the proposed district, to the chief executive officers of Ozaukee County, the Cedarburg 

School District, and the Milwaukee Area Technical College District, and any other entities having the 

power to levy taxes on property located within the District, in accordance with the procedures specified in 

the Tax Increment Law; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the CDA, 

on January 25, 2018 held a public hearing concerning the project plan and boundaries and proposed 

creation of the District, providing interested parties a reasonable opportunity to express their views 

thereon; and 

 

 WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the CDA designated the boundaries of the District, adopted 

the Project Plan, and recommended to the Common Council that it create such District and approve the 

Project Plan and 

  

  

 

 

44 of 78



City of Cedarburg Wisconsin TID No. 4 Council Resolution 
 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg 

that: 

 

1. The boundaries of the District that shall be named "Tax Incremental District No. 5, City 

of Cedarburg", are hereby established as specified in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 

 

2. The District is created effective as of January 1, 2018.   

 

 3. The Common Council finds and declares that: 

 

(a) Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is a blighted area 

within the meaning of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(2)(a)1   

 

(b) Based upon the findings, as stated in 3.a. above, the District is declared to be a 

blighted area district based on the identification and classification of the property 

included within the District.  

 

(c) The improvement of such area is likely to enhance significantly the value of 

substantially all of the other real property in the District. 

 

(d) The equalized value of the taxable property in the District plus the value increment of 

all other existing tax incremental districts within the City, does not exceed 12% of the 

total equalized value of taxable property within the City. 

 

(e) The City estimates that approximately none of the territory within the District will be 

devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum expenditure period, 

pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(5)(b).   

 

(f) The project costs relate directly to promoting the elimination of blight of the area 

consistent with the purpose for which the District is created. 

 

 4. The Project Plan for "Tax Incremental District No. 5, City of Cedarburg" (attached as 

Exhibit B) is approved, and the City further finds the Plan is feasible and in conformity 

with the master plan of the City. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to apply 

to the Wisconsin Department of Revenue, in such form as may be prescribed, for a "Determination of Tax 

Incremental Base", as of January 1, 2018, pursuant to the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 

66.1105(5)(b). 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 66.1105(5)(f) of the Wisconsin 

Statutes that the City Assessor is hereby authorized and directed to identify upon the assessment roll 

returned and examined under Wisconsin Statutes Section 70.45, those parcels of property which are 

within the District, specifying thereon the name of the said District, and the City Clerk is hereby 

authorized and directed to make similar notations on the tax roll made under Section 70.65 of the 

Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

Adopted this 12
th
 day of February, 2018. 

 

          

      Kip Kinzel, Mayor 

    

      

Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk

45 of 78



City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin TID No. 5  Council Resolution 
 

 

       EXHIBIT A -  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LEGAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OR MAP OF  
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5 

CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

 
 
 
 

THIS CAN BE FOUND IN THE PROJECT PLAN 

46 of 78



City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin TID No. 5  Council Resolution 
 

 

EXHIBIT B -  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PROJECT PLAN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS WILL BE HANDED OUT SEPARATELY 
 

47 of 78



1 
 

 

Date: Feb. 6, 2018 

 

From: Robert Loughran 

N40W6096 Jackson St. 

Cedarburg, WI 53012 

Email – Robert.p.loughran@gmail.com 

 

To: City of Cedarburg Clerk, Mayor, Common Council Members, CDA members, City Attorney 

 

This letter is in regard to the proposed creation of a TIF district at the site of property owned by St. 

Francis Borgia. While the mayor is in sole control of Common Council meeting agenda, I am sending this 

as a formal request that the suggestion outlined below be placed on the agenda and given due 

consideration by the Common Council. 

 

I am also copying the city attorney to give him a heads up and also just in case I am misinterpreting 

some legal aspects of this. 

 

 

TIF Background 

 

The stated purpose of this TID is to facilitate the development of the property by real estate developer 

HSI Properties by incentivizing HSI to purchase the property from St. Francis and to create on the 

property a set of apartments and townhouses. This should increase the property’s net value and, 

ultimately, property taxes collected by the city and other taxing authorities. 

 

After city approval of the HSI project last year, HSI has since approached the city stating that the return 

on investment vs. the cost of the project, as modified during the approval process, now makes the 

apartment construction cost prohibitive. HSI has stated this takes into account the cost of purchase of 

the land from St. Francis, building demolition, and construction. 

 

The cost of the property to HSI has been stated variously as around $1.1 to $1.5 million. In the execution 

of the TID, the proposed rebates to HSI have been published as approximately $1.9 million. After this 

amount is paid to HSI the city can then retain the taxes it collects from the property. The downside to 

this is that this will not happen for a decade or more. 

 

Throughout the original apartment approval process and, more recently, the recommendation by the 

CDA allowing the TIF process to proceed, those favoring the apartment construction and now creation 

of a TIF district have repeatedly stated that the city “has no other choice”, citing the dormancy of the St. 

Francis property now going on three years, and the lack of other “viable” proposals. 

  

48 of 78

mailto:Robert.p.loughran@gmail.com


2 
 

 

An Alternative -- City Acquisition 

 

But there is another way. The city can acquire the property directly through exercise of its eminent 

domain authority. In such an action, the city’s compensation to the current property owner should be 

less than the current price and more along the lines of the $800,000 to $900,000 stated as probable 

realistic current property market value. 

 

This is obviously far less, in fact $1 million less, than the proposed rebate to the current potential 

developer. From a purely fiduciary standpoint, assuming this is a viable alternative, I would think this 

approach is practically required since it is a considerably smaller hit to the city and other taxing 

authorities.  

 

 

Future Use and Development Unchanged 

 

This proposal is all about the TIF and not the actual development. If the city holds ownership of the land, 

it could sell it – at a profit, I would note – to some developer, or multiple developers, for similar 

construction. The buyer of all or part of the land could even conceivably be HSI and the project would 

continue as currently planned. 

 

But the city would keep the final sale price down. As a result, whoever purchases the land will not need 

a TIF incentive to build. The developer’s return on investment will derive from the lower initial purchase. 

 

 

Why Not 

 

Please allow me to make clear that I am generally not in favor of government authorities acquiring 

property from private and, possibly, unwilling sellers. But neither am I in favor of governments 

incentivizing growth by passing taxpayer money to, in this case, two private entities, HSI and, indirectly, 

St. Francis church. 

 

If the city wants to use TIF, it would be much more appropriate for it to use such funding to purchase 

the property – at real market value, or to demolish the structures on the land once acquired. 

 

This may seem a harsh approach to some, as it seems not very friendly to the current property owner. 

But let’s look at the facts. The city has called this property blighted. HSI has repeatedly pointed to 

vandalism and decay at the property. And some elected city officials have said repeatedly that nothing is 

going to change without city intervention. This is practically a textbook case for exercising eminent 

domain.    

 

The alternative argument is to say the city has to help St. Francis get an inflated price for the property, 

and then in turn help the developer whose costs are elevated in part by that purchase price. 

 

49 of 78



3 
 

There may be some valid legal, or other reasons I am not aware of, that would prevent the city from 

taking this action. If that is the case, I sincerely ask that someone let me know what they are. 

 

Sincerely, 

Robert Loughran 

50 of 78



 
 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING DATE: February 12, 2018                                               ITEM NO: 10. C. 
 
TITLE:   Consider Planned Unit Development (PUD) overlay extension for the St. Francis Borgia site 
at N44 W6035 – N43 W6005 Hamilton Road; and action thereon  
 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY:  Council members are reminded that at your March 13, 2017 meeting, the public 
hearing was held and PUD zoning along with concept approval was granted for the Arrabelle project. 
According to the Zoning Code, this establishes a one year deadline for the applicant to secure a 
building permit. More specifically, Section 13-1-69 (0) (4) states: If a building permit is not issued 

within one (1) year of receiving the PUD zoning, the PUD District zoning for the property shall 

be automatically discontinued and replaced with the zoning designation that existed prior to 

the PUD rezoning.   
 
While HSI Properties is nearing the point where they can pursue the acquisition of a building permit, 
they still need to follow up on the conditions of approval of their detailed plans and to secure State 
approval of their building plans. This activity will likely take them beyond the one year deadline. 
Accordingly, the applicant is requesting a one year extension to the PUD zoning and concept 
approval.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve 
 
BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: N/A 
 
BUDGETARY IMPACT:  N/A 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Tony DeRosa, HSI Properties 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 
 

51 of 78



 
 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING DATE: February, 12, 2018                                           ITEM NO: 10. D. 
 
TITLE:   Consider Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the St. Francis Borgia site at N44 W6035 – N43 
W6005 Hamilton Road; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 02/05/18) 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY:  The Certified Survey Map (CSM) is required as the basis for the Arrabelle site 
plan and to combine the various lots within this project. It also serves to create the single-family 
parcel on Spring Street. In addition, It serves to separate the St. Francis Borgia Church property 
from that which is being purchased by HSI for the Arrabelle project.  
 
While the Church site is separate from the apartment development, staff notes that with the CSM we 
have an opportunity to secure public right-of-way as needed to incorporate the existing public 
sidewalks north of the church. More specifically, the public side walk crosses the north triangle of the 
Church property where it is bordered by Washington Avenue on the west and Hamilton Road on the 
northeast. In fact, at this location the church property extends into the traveled roadway. Accordingly, 
the Plan Commission recommended dedication of an area sufficient to show the sidewalk inside the 
public right-of-way. Staff notes that right-of-way dedications are required under Sec. 14-1-42(e) 

Technical Requirements for Certified Survey Map. Dedication of streets and other public area 

shall be required, in addition to the owner’s certificate and the mortgagee’s certificate in 

substantially the same form as required by Section 236.21(2)(a) of Wisconsin State Statutes. 
 

 
BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their February 5, 2018 meeting 
the Plan Commission recommended approval by unanimous vote. 
 
BUDGETARY IMPACT: N/A 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 A copy of the Certified Survey Map. 
 Unapproved Minutes of the February 5, 2018 Plan Commission meeting.  

 
 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Tony DeRosa, HSI Properties 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 
 

52 of 78



53 of 78



54 of 78



55 of 78



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE:   February 12, 2018                                                              ITEM NO:  10. E. 

                           

TITLE:   Consider Ordinance No. 2018-02 increasing the allocated funds in the Recreation Program Special 

Revenue Fund to the Pool Fund; and action thereon  

 

 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:   The swimming pool operations did not stay within budget for 2017.   Revenues were 

$13,630 under budget and expenditures were $255 over budget.  There isn’t a fund balance for the swimming 

pool to absorb the loss.  In previous years, there has been a transfer from General Fund – fund balance.  

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve ordinance  No. 2018-02 

 

 
 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  Reduction in Recreation Programs’ fund balance of $13,900. 

 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS:   Ordinance No. 2018-02 

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Christy Mertes 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:  Christy Mertes, Administrator/Treasurer, 376-3907 

 
      

 

 

 

56 of 78



ORDINANCE NO. 2018-02 
 

An Ordinance Appropriating Funds for Community Gym Improvements 
 

 The Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, does hereby ordain as follows: 

 

 SECTION 1.  In the 2017 budget, there is hereby appropriated from the fund balance of the City of 

Cedarburg Special Revenue Fund - Recreation Programs the following monies related to the operation of the 

Special Revenue Fund - Swimming Pool: 

 

 Increase Recreation Programs –  

Transfer to Swimming Pool – 220-592000-710    $13,900 

 Increase Swimming Pool Fund –  

Transfer from Recreation Programs – 240-491220    $13,900 

 

 SECTION 2.  These monies are hereby designated to be used for the above-mentioned swimming pool 

operating budget. 

 

 SECTION 3.  This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and publication. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 12th day of February, 2018. 

 

 

 

                                                       ________________________________ 

                                                       Kip Kinzel, Mayor    

 

Countersigned:    

 

______________________________ 

Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form:  

 

_________________________________ 

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney  

 

 

 

 

57 of 78



58 of 78



59 of 78



60 of 78



61 of 78



62 of 78



63 of 78



64 of 78



65 of 78



66 of 78



67 of 78



68 of 78



69 of 78



70 of 78



71 of 78



72 of 78



73 of 78



74 of 78



75 of 78



76 of 78



77 of 78



PROCLAMATION 
 

WHEREAS, Lions Clubs are changing the world one community at a 
time, by addressing needs at home and around the globe. Lions Club members are 
1.4 million men and women who believe that kindness matters. And when they 
work together, they can achieve bigger goals; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Cedarburg Lions Club was chartered back in 1947 and is 
composed of volunteers who dedicate their time to the betterment of our 
community and aiding those in need; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Cedarburg Lions Club began sponsoring the Cedarburg 

Community Blood Drive, upon the request of the Blood Center of Wisconsin, in 
January 2009 where it has grown from an average of 42 donors to 149 over nine 
years; and 

 
WHEREAS, this valuable life giving resource provides blood to various 

recipients in our area, the Cedarburg Lions Club is working to increase the 
importance of blood donation by sponsoring blood drives six times a year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Cedarburg Lions Club reached the milestone of 

welcoming the 5,000th donor on February 8, 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is fitting that members of this worthwhile organization be 

recognized for the outstanding services they provide to Cedarburg and other 
communities in this State and elsewhere around the world: 

 
NOW THEREFORE, I, Kip Kinzel, Mayor of the City of Cedarburg, in 

recognition of this important milestone congratulate the Cedarburg Lions Club on 
behalf of the citizens of Cedarburg for many years of valuable service. 

 
Dated this 12th day of February 2018. 

 
 
          _________________________________ 
          Kip Kinzel, Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk   

78 of 78


	Agenda  CC 02-12-18
	CC MIN 01 26 18
	Blue Sheet - HSI Developers Agreement
	PC Min 02-05-18
	HSI Planned Unit Development Agr - 2-2-18
	TID No 5 Project Plan - 3rd Draft
	Res 2018-04 - TID No 5
	City TIF Idea - Loughran Letter to Council
	Blue Sheet - PUD Extension
	Blue Sheet - CSM Arrabelle
	SFB Certified Survey Map
	Blue Sheet - Budget Transfer
	Ord 2017-02 - Budget Transfers
	Bills
	CA Report 02 08 18
	Building Inspectors Report - January 2018
	Proclamation - Lions Club



